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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	SHARALYN S. WRIGHT, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

STATE OF ALASKA,

                                                  Employer,

                                                     Defendant.

	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
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)

)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 200904262, 200504372
AWCB Decision No. 12-0216
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on December 24, 2012


Sharalyn S. Wright’s (Employee) April 17, 2009 and November 30, 2009 workers’ compensation claims were heard on November 13, 2012, in Anchorage, Alaska.  The hearing date was selected on May 15, 2012.  Attorney Sonja Redmond appeared and represented Employee, who did not appear or otherwise participate in the hearing.  Assistant Attorney General Patricia Shake appeared and represented the State of Alaska (Employer).  Charles Brooks, M.D., and Murlene Wilkes appeared, Skiff Lobaugh appeared telephonically, and all testified for Employer.  The record closed on November 13, 2012.

As a preliminary matter, because Employee did not appear, Employee’s counsel requested a continuance.  Employer opposed the request and the designated chair issued an oral order denying the continuance.  This decision examines the oral order denying the continuance, memorializes it and addresses the merits of Employee’s claims.


ISSUES

Employee’s counsel contended she had not heard from her client in six weeks, Employee had not returned her calls or emails, Employee was not present to testify and counsel suggested the claim might be heard and decided on the written record.  Alternately, Employee’s counsel requested a continuance, but frankly conceded there really was “not a good reason” to continue the hearing because Employee knew about the hearing and has not responded to her counsel’s requests for contact.  The only basis Employee offered through counsel for a continuance is “everyone has a right” to be present at their hearing.  Employee through counsel contended she had at times not been given adequate notice of prehearing conferences or hearings, and did not have adequate notice of this hearing.

Employer objected to a continuance and contended there had been several prehearing conferences and hearings in this case at which Employee failed to show.  Employer contended Employee had proper notice of the hearing, Employer spent considerable time and expense to prepare for hearing, including bringing a physician to testify, and insisted the hearing go forward.

1) Was the oral order denying Employee’s request for a continuance proper?

Employee contended she is entitled to unspecified additional temporary total disability benefits (TTD).  Employee seeks an order awarding additional, unspecified TTD.

Employer contended it paid all TTD benefits owed to Employee.  It further contended Employer had overpaid TTD benefits.  Employer contended it had no medical documentation supporting a TTD claim and was unaware of any periods of unpaid TTD.  Employer seeks an order denying the TTD claim.

2) Is Employee entitled to additional TTD?

Employee contends she is entitled to payment of unspecified past, present or future medical bills for her work-related injuries.  Employee seeks an order awarding additional, unspecified past present or future medical treatment.

Employer contended it paid all medical benefits owed Employee for her work-related injuries.  It further contended it had no medical documentation of any unpaid work-related medical bills for Employee, except for her left knee, which has been controverted.  Employer seeks an order denying the medical benefits claim.

3) Is Employee entitled to an award of past medical benefits or any future medical care?

Employee contends she is entitled to an unspecified compensation rate adjustment.  Employee seeks an order awarding an unspecified compensation rate adjustment.

Employer contends it paid Employee’s disability benefits at the highest legal rate for both injuries.  Furthermore, it contends Employee has provided no evidence justifying a higher rate.  Accordingly, Employer seeks an order denying the compensation rate adjustment claim.

4) Is Employee entitled to a compensation rate adjustment?

Lastly, Employee requested an order awarding attorney’s fees, costs and interest.  She seeks an associated award.

Employer contends Employee should prevail on no issues in her claims.  Employer contends it has paid all benefits owed Employee in both cases.  Therefore, it contends Employee is not entitled to attorney’s fees, costs or interest.  It seeks an order denying these claims.

5) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees, costs and interest?

FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the relevant record establishes the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On December 6, 1996, Employee alleged she was attacked by Jasmine, a Rottweiler, as Employee defended her own pets from Jasmine’s attack.  Employee alleged Jasmine “knocked [her] to the ground several times” (Complaint, October 27, 1998).

2) On October 27, 1998, Employee sued Jasmine’s owners in Kenai, Alaska, for alleged injuries including unspecified “physical injury, lost past wages and future earning capacity, incurred medical expenses, . . . future medical expenses, . . .  permanent disfigurement, past pain and suffering and  . . . future pain and suffering” (id. at 3).

3) In 2004, Employee alleged a shipping container fell on her, causing spinal column injuries and requiring cervical spine screws, installed in 2007 (Complaint, January 26, 2010).

4) On March 10, 2005, Employee claims she injured her mid-back while working for Employer when an 80 pound box slid into her while she waited to check in for an airline flight (Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, March 19, 2005).

5) As of November 16, 2006, Employee worked for Rep. Mike Chenault, as a “legislative employee” and had for nearly seven years at that time (Petition, attachment, November 16, 2006).

6) On February 1, 2008, Employee alleged she was injured in a motor vehicle accident, which she alleged displaced the screws in her cervical spine (Complaint, January 26, 2010).

7) On April 1, 2008, Nels Anderson, M.D., wrote a “to-whom-it-may-concern” letter stating Employee had been under his medical care “for the past several years for a back injury,” had “her third back surgery,” and had been involved in a motor vehicle accident, all of which “rendered her disabled.”  Dr. Anderson opined these events had “impacted every aspect of [Employee’s] life,” at times made her sofa-bound, and made it difficult for her to know how her back would be on any given day (letter, April 1, 2008).

8) On April 7, 2009, Employee reported she had fallen down stairs in the course of her employment and injured her back, hip and ankle (Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, April 10, 2009).

9) On April 21, 2009, Employee filed a claim in case 200904262 seeking “unknown” TTD and medical care, and a compensation rate adjustment for an injury to her “back, hips, head, neck, ankle,” following a fall down steps at work (claim, April 17, 2009).

10) On July 30, 2009, the parties appeared at a prehearing conference, which was rescheduled because Employee said she was medicated and could not participate (Prehearing Conference Summary, July 30, 2009).

11) On January 7, 2010, the parties appeared at a prehearing conference, with Employee appearing telephonically “under protest” because she thought the prehearing had been rescheduled to a later date.  The designee scheduled a follow up prehearing conference for January 20, 2010 (Prehearing Conference Summary, January 7, 2010).

12) On January 7, 2010, Employer filed the first page of a petition it had received from Employee, with Employee’s attachment, in case 200904262, which apparently sought to “join” her 2005 and 2009 cases together, and in the attachment raised several objections to Employer’s procedures and practices in Employee’s cases (Petition, undated, because the second page, which ordinarily bears the date, is missing).

13) On January 7, 2010, Employer filed another petition it had received from Employee in case 200904262 seeking to “join,” but also specifically objecting to “daily harassment,” unpaid bills, too many Department of Law attorneys working on her case, “overreaching to medical long forgotten over 20+ years ago,” and seeking under “other” a “general review by board” of alleged late payments for travel, medical tests, “omnibus” issues, sanctions, and “waste of state funding” on her case (Petition, November 10, 2009).  The designee treated this petition as one seeking a “protective order” (Prehearing Conference Summary, January 7, 2010).

14) On January 7, 2010, the board’s designee advised Employee to “file all petitions with the board” because serving them only on Employer was “not adequate to protect her rights” (id.).

15) On January 19, 2010, the parties appeared at a prehearing noting Employee’s unavailability on January 20, 2010, for a prehearing conference as previously scheduled (Prehearing Conference Summary, January 19, 2010).

16) On January 25, 2010, the parties attended a prehearing conference at which Employee objected to language in releases, which had been emailed to her on January 20, 2010 (Prehearing Conference Summary, January 25, 2010).

17) On March 16, 2010, Employer attended a prehearing conference but Employee was unable to attend (Prehearing Conference Summary, March 16, 2010).

18) On April 28, 2010, the parties appeared at a prehearing conference at which the designee went through discovery requests and summarized them.  The designee set a follow-up prehearing conference for August 2, 2010 (Prehearing Conference Summary, April 28, 2010).

19) On August 2, 2010, Employer appeared at a prehearing conference but Employee did not appear or call in.  The designee attempted to call Employee but her telephone voice mailbox was full.  Employer provided evidence Employee had failed to claim five pieces of certified mail in June and July 2010.  Another follow-up prehearing conference was scheduled for September 23, 2010 (Prehearing Conference Summary, August 2, 2010).

20) On August 18, 2010, Employer controverted “all” benefits on the grounds Employee failed to provide discovery responses as ordered by the designee at the April 28, 2010 prehearing conference and failed to sign and deliver releases or file for a protective order.  Employer suspended Employee’s rights to benefits effective August 18, 2010 (Controversion Notice, August 18, 2010).

21) On September 2, 2010, Employer filed a petition to compel Employee to sign and deliver three releases and respond to its eight discovery requests from June 10, 2010 (Petition, September 2, 2010).

22) On September 3, 2010, Employer filed a petition to compel Employee to respond to its three discovery requests from January 28, 2010 (Petition, September 3, 2010).

23) On September 23, 2010, the parties appeared at a prehearing conference at which Employee confirmed the “address in the Board’s records is the best address to use” for her.  Another prehearing was set for November 8, 2010, because Employee said she had not received notice of the prehearing and was not ready to proceed (Prehearing Conference Summary, September 23, 2010).

24) The board’s computer system in September 2010 listed Employee’s address as: C/O Mike Chenault, 145 Main Street Loop, Kenai, Alaska  99611 (computer system).

25) On September 29, 2010, Employer filed a petition for an order dismissing Employee’s “claim.”  In the memorandum accompanying the petition, however, Employer asked for dismissal of both Employee’s claim and her “petition for general review” on grounds Employee failed to comply with the designee’s discovery order, failed to respond to multiple discovery requests, and failed to participate in scheduled prehearing conferences (Petition, with attached memorandum, September 29, 2010).

26) The “petition for general review” referenced in Employer’s September 29, 2010 memorandum is Employee’s November 10, 2009 petition, filed by Employer on January 7, 2010 (record; observations).

27) At the time Employer’s September 29, 2010 petition to dismiss was filed, Employee had only filed one claim, dated April 17, 2009 (claim, April 17, 2009; record).

28) On October 19, 2010, Employer received from Employee a “revised and amended” claim dated November 30, 2009 (claim, November 30, 2009).

29) On November 8, 2010, Employer appeared at a prehearing conference and sought a hearing on its discovery petitions; Employee did not appear and could not be reached by phone.  To expedite the matter, the prehearing officer intended to set a hearing on Employer’s March 16, 2010, September 2, 2010, September 3, 2010, and October 8, 2010 petitions to compel, and its September 29, 2010 petition to dismiss.  However, under the “Action” section in the prehearing conference summary, only the March 16, 2010, September 2, 2010, and September 3, 2010 petitions to compel, and the September 29, 2010 petition to dismiss were ultimately listed as issues for the November 24, 2010 hearing (Prehearing Conference Summary, November 8, 2010).

30) On November 8, 2010, in a roundabout way, Employee “filed” a claim listing 200504372 and 200904262 on the same claim form.  Unbeknownst to Employer, this claim had been served on Employer’s representative but not filed with the board.  Accordingly, upon discovering this fact, Employer provided a copy to the board on or about November 8, 2010, and the board served all parties on November 8, 2010.  This was a revised and amended claim listing the “box” incident in 2005, and Employee falling down steps while at work in 2009.  Employee’s claim referenced “failed back,” and listed the body part at issue as “back.”  Employee claimed TTD for all dates for which she qualified; permanent total disability (PTD) to be determined; permanent partial impairment (PPI); unknown medical costs and related transportation expenses; eligibility for retraining benefits; a compensation rate adjustment; a “25%” penalty; interest as allowed by law; an unfair or frivolous controversion finding; and “other,” which included payment of travel expenses, medical providers’ fees, addressing an “unsubstantiated claim of fraud by adjuster,” and nonpayment of personal care attendants’ bills after the adjuster allegedly approved the bills.  On an attachment, Employee listed numerous other reasons she filed the claim, including determining if Harbor Adjustment Service has authority to act on behalf of the State of Alaska, and raised related issues (claim, November 30, 2009).

31) On November 8, 2010, the board sent all parties notice of the November 24, 2010 hearing.  Employee’s notice was sent by certified mail with return receipt requested “c/o Rep. Mike Chenault, 145 Main Street, Loop 223, Kenai, Alaska 99611” (Hearing Notice, November 8, 2010; U.S. Postal Services return receipt).

32) On November 9, 2010, Alyson Stogsdill signed for Employee’s Hearing Notice (U.S. Postal Service receipt, November 9, 2010).

33) On November 24, 2010, a hearing was held.  Employer appeared but Employee did not.  The designated chair tried but was unable to reach Employee by phone (record; observations).

34) At hearing, Employer asked for dismissal of all of Employee’s claims and petitions based on her failure to comply with discovery requests (record).

35) At the November 24, 2010 hearing, Division of Workers’ Compensation Employee Cynthia Stewart testified she attempted to contact Employee at her phone number of record the day before and day of the hearing but was unable to contact Employee.  Ms. Stewart had no notice from Employee she was unable to attend the hearing for any reason (Stewart).

36) Employee had at least ten days’ notice of the November 24, 2010 hearing (Hearing Notice, November 8, 2010; U.S. Postal Service return receipt cards).

37) It is unknown from the record why Employee failed to appear or otherwise participate in the November 24, 2010 hearing (record; observations).

38) As of November 24, 2010, Employee had not: complied with the designee’s order to respond to Employer’s January 13, 2010 informal discovery requests; signed and delivered three releases sent on April 14, 2010 and June 10, 2010; or responded to the January 28, 2010 and June 10, 2010, informal discovery requests (record).

39) Without appropriate releases and answers to its discovery questions, Employer was left to guess work and was prejudiced in its ability to defend against Employee’s petitions and claims (experience, observations).  
40) Employee sometimes uses two addresses on her filed documents: **** *******, Soldotna, Alaska 99669, which is redacted in this decision to protect Employee’s privacy, and Rep. Chenault’s address at 145 Main Street Loop, Kenai, Alaska 99611 (see e.g., claim, November 30, 2009).

41) At and before the November 24, 2010 hearing, Employee was not represented by an attorney and Employee’s pleadings reflected unfamiliarity with, or a lack of understanding of, filing and service requirements under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (record).

42) On December 23, 2010, Wright v, State, AWCB Decision No. 10-0204 (December 23, 2010) (Wright I) was issued.  Wright I granted Employer’s March 16, 2010, September 2010, September 3, 2010 petitions for an order compelling discovery from Employee.  Wright I denied Employer’s September 29, 2009 petition to dismiss Employee’s April 17, 2009 claim and January 7, 2010 “general review” petition.  However, jurisdiction was reserved over Employer’s September 29, 2010 petition to dismiss.  Wright I directed the division’s clerk to serve copies of Wright I on Employee by both regular and certified mail at **** *******, Soldotna, Alaska 99669 and C/O Mike Chenault, 145 Main Street Loop, Kenai, Alaska 99611 (id. at 26).

43) On May 15, 2012, Employee, her current counsel, and Employer’s counsel appeared at a prehearing conference.  The parties requested a hearing date and the board’s designee set a hearing for November 13, 2012, on Employee’s April 17, 2009 claim (Prehearing Conference Summary, May 15, 2012).

44) On October 23, 2012, attorneys for both parties appeared at another prehearing conference to review the status of issues prior to the November 2012 hearing.  Employee’s counsel stated the prehearing notice was issued without “input from Employee,” and she was not able to attend on “short notice.”  The board’s designee asked Employee’s counsel if she would like to continue the conference to a more mutually convenient time but counsel “graciously agreed to proceed.”  The parties agreed the issues as outlined in the May 15, 2012 prehearing conference summary remained the issues for the November 13, 2012 hearing.  According to the prehearing conference summary, the parties agreed they did not need a continuance and were ready to proceed on November 13, 2012.  The parties agreed Employee’s claim included: back, hips, head, neck, ankle and shoulder.  Employee’s claim was clarified to state she was requesting an order awarding TTD for unspecified periods; medical costs, to be determined; unspecified compensation rate adjustment and interest.  Though the prehearing conference summary states Employee had filed no claim in 200504372, at hearing the parties agreed she filed a claim in both cases, the cases had been joined, and Employee’s claim included attorney fees (Prehearing Conference Summary, October 2012; parties’ hearing statements).

45) On November 2, 2012, the board served a copy of the October 23, 2012 prehearing conference summary by regular mail on Employee’s attorney and on Employee at her residence address of record at that time, **** ********, Soldotna, Alaska 99669 (id.).

46) On November 8, 2012, Employee’s copy of the prehearing conference summary was returned by the USPS marked “Attempted -- Not Known Unable to Forward” (envelope).

47) On October 11, 2012, division employee Sertram Harris served a copy of a hearing notice advising the parties of the November 13, 2012 hearing.  A copy of the hearing notice was sent to Employee at Rep. Chenault’s address by regular mail, and to Employee’s attorney’s address by certified mail, return receipt requested (Hearing Notice, October 11, 2012).

48) As of October 11, 2012, according to the designated chair’s inquiry of Mr. Harris, the address listed in the board’s computer system for Employee was that of Rep.  Chenault in Kenai, Alaska, an address Employee had used repeatedly over the years in this case (official notice; computer database).

49) On November 13, 2012, Employer’s and Employee’s representatives appeared at hearing but Employee did not appear.  Employee’s attorney advised she had no contact with Employee for approximately six weeks prior to the hearing and Employee had not returned her phone calls or e-mails.  Employee’s counsel requested a continuance but conceded there was no good reason to continue the hearing, as Employee was aware of the hearing date and had not kept in contact with her attorney.  However, Employee’s counsel noted everyone has a right to be present at their judicial proceeding (Employee’s counsel’s statements at hearing).

50) The designated chair attempted to telephone Employee at her phone number in the board’s computer database, but the phone number was “not in service” (record).

51) The designated chair also attempted to determine whether or not Employee had been properly served with the hearing notice.  The designated chair checked the board’s computer database in both the above-referenced case numbers, and determined that at some unknown point since October 11, 2012, Employee’s mailing address had reverted back to her personal address at **** *******, in Soldotna, Alaska, rather than Rep. Chenault’s address in Kenai (observations).

52) The designated chair, during a break at hearing, confirmed through Mr. Harris that the address in the board’s system to which the hearing notice was mailed on October 11, 2012, was in fact, the address in the computer system at that time.  It could not be determined from the computer data base how, when, why, or by whom the address had been changed since October 11, 2012 (observations).

53) Employee provided no notice of a change in her mailing address (record; observations).

54) Employee was properly served with the October 11, 2012 hearing notice for the November 13, 2012 hearing by service to her address of record as of that date (judgment, and inferences drawn from the above facts).

55) As of November 13, 2012, Employee was still employed by State of Alaska Rep. Chenault (Lobaugh).

56) Charles M. Brooks, M.D., is an orthopedic surgeon who saw Employee for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME) on December 4, 2009.  He evaluated Employee for her March 10, 2005 and April 7, 2009 work-related injuries.  His review took 60 to 70 hours most of which was spent reviewing Employee’s medical records totaling approximately 3,400 pages from 1992 through May 2012, including mental health records.  Dr. Brooks also reviewed non-medical evidence including reports of injury and claims.  

Dr. Brooks performed a medical examination of Employee’s spine and performed a neurological evaluation of her extremities.  He testified he did not examine Employee’s left knee.  At hearing, Dr. Brooks described his physical findings and noted Employee seemed to put forth very little effort on range of motion and strength testing.  In his view, Dr. Brooks found many “non-organic” findings, which he described in detail.  According to Dr. Brooks, Employee reported low back pain in testing that should not cause low back pain, and was unable to complete some of the tests because of pain.  Following the examination, Employee completed a satisfaction survey on which she wrote the examination caused “no new problems.”  However, Employee later claimed Dr. Brooks injured her knee during the examination.  

As for causation, Dr. Brooks questioned whether there was a 2005 injury.  At best, assuming a box actually slid into Employee’s back, Dr. Brooks opined she probably suffered a “contusion” to her low back.  This event may have caused a temporary worsening of her preexisting low back pain.  Any temporary worsening, in Dr. Brooks’ opinion, would have resolved within 30 days, by April 2005.  No further treatment for that contusion was necessary and Dr. Brooks did not believe Employee could have possibly suffered a right shoulder or cervical injury as a result of the box incident as Employee initially described it.  Dr. Brooks believed the alternative explanation for Employee’s right shoulder pain in the summer of 2005 was an “impingement syndrome,” a naturally occurring condition in people with a predisposition to this condition, because of the shape of their acromion.  Employee has a “curved” acromion, which pre-disposed her to shoulder impingement.  She also had degenerative arthritis of the acromioclavicular joint, which tends to create spurs.  Employee had a spur on the underside of her acromion.  These three shoulder conditions are “temporally” and “pathogenically” unrelated to having a box fall on her mid-back in 2005.  The impingement syndrome is far more probably caused, in Dr. Brooks’ opinion, by fishing Employee did in the summer of 2005.  

As for Employee’s cervical complaints, Dr. Brooks opined she had a long history of neck pain going back years with occasional, intermittent exacerbations.  He did “not know why” she had an exacerbation in July 2005, but like her shoulder, the cervical pain was “temporally” and “pathogenically” unrelated to a box striking her in her mid-back in March 2005.  To Dr. Brooks, the “mid-back” is from the lower end of the shoulder blades to just above the waistline.  In Dr. Brooks’ opinion, the shoulder surgery Employee had in October 2005 and cervical surgeries she had in February 2007 and 2008 were not caused by the March 2005 injury.  He opined congenital abnormalities and “avocational” or “occupational” activities immediately preceding her shoulder pain in July 2005 was the cause for her shoulder surgery.  The avocational activity was fishing, but Dr. Brooks did not elaborate on the occupational activity to which he referred.  Employee’s neck surgery was caused by degenerative changes in her spine including degenerative disc disease, stenosis and arthritis.  

Dr. Brooks reviewed earlier EME reports from Timothy Borman, D.O., and William Platt, M.D.  He disagreed with Dr. Borman’s assertion Employee’s March 2005 injury was a substantial factor in her neck and shoulder “conditions.”  Dr. Brooks opined Dr. Borman “was obviously incorrect,” but in his defense noted Dr. Borman did not have all the records Dr. Brooks had and was misled by Employee, likening this to the “garbage in, garbage out” computer phenomenon.  For example, Employee told Dr. Borman a box had “fallen” on her “head, neck, and shoulder.”  This “misstatement of fact,” according to Dr. Brooks would provide a reasonable basis for Dr. Borman’s opinion, lacking accurate “evidence to the contrary.”  

Dr. Brooks also reviewed Employee’s April 7, 2009 fall down the stairs.  When asked to give an opinion about what orthopedic “complaints” Employee suffered as a result of this fall, Dr. Brooks “modified” the question and addressed “conditions,” rather than “complaints,” thinking Employer was interested in her “injuries” not her “symptoms.”  With this modification to the question, Dr. Brooks concluded Employee probably sustained contusions of her upper-, mid- and lower-back with an exacerbation or temporary worsening of her chronic pain in these areas.  Dr. Brooks also opined Employee suffered contusions of her buttocks, with temporary worsening of her chronic neck pain.  She probably sustained a contusion of her posterior right shoulder girdle, which he explained is basically a right shoulder joint “sprain.”  Employee also sustained a possible ankle contusion, or sprained left ankle and a likely right jawbone contusion.  In his opinion, all these “complaints” resolved promptly.  Given Employee’s chronic ongoing pain to most of these areas, in Dr. Brooks’ opinion, all the injuries sustained in the April 7, 2009 fall reached medical stability by October 5, 2009.  Dr. Brooks based this opinion on Employee’s ability to function “okay at work,” according to her records implying she had reached “pre-injury status” a time during which she was also functioning at work, notwithstanding her chronic neck and back pain.  Dr. Brooks opined Employee did not need any more medical treatment for any injuries sustained on April 7, 2009, as of October 5, 2009.  

In response to Employee’s allegation Dr. Brooks injured Employee’s left knee, Dr. Brooks queried how he could have injured her knee when he “never examined it.”  Employee had no knee complaints at the time Dr. Brooks saw her, and testified he provided no knee examination.  Dr. Brooks reviewed subsequent medical records concerning Employee’s left knee and concluded chondromalacia was the probable cause of her left knee symptoms.  Chondromalacia is a natural condition everyone gets at varying rates, according to Dr. Brooks.  Employee has chondromalacia of the patella, Grade II.  This would account for her knee popping occasionally.  Employee also has a small tear of her meniscus, which according to the surgeon’s report, is probably an asymptomatic, incidental finding during surgery and not the cause of her knee symptoms.  

Dr. Brooks also opined Employee has “iatrogenic narcotic dependence.”  This means her narcotics dependence is facilitated by a physician or healthcare provider.  This does not imply “addiction,” but rather, chronic, long term narcotic use creates a “dependency” upon these narcotics, and sudden cessation could cause “withdrawal symptoms.”  In Dr. Brooks’ opinion, the 2005 and 2009 work injuries are not related in any way to this narcotic dependency, as the dependency existed before each injury and continued thereafter.  However, narcotic use creates desensitization of nerve cells and may actually increase a person’s pain reaction.  

According to Dr. Brooks, Employee also demonstrated symptom magnification, which he described as exaggeration in historical reports.  For example, when asked for a “pain level report,” Employee said she felt pain at level “12,” “15,” or even “17” in the past.  The pain scale, however, sets the highest pain level at “10,” which is the most pain a person could ever imagine.  Similarly, Employee sometimes characterized her pain as having all possible attributes one could ascribe to pain all in the same place at the same time.  In Dr. Brooks’ opinion, this is very unlikely.  Dr. Brooks believed Employee’s statement she “had not slept for two days,” is not plausible, as it would be unusual for any person to go completely without sleep for 48 hours.  Dr. Brooks attributed these statements to psychological issues and suggested Employee get a psychiatric evaluation.  Dr. Brooks also reviewed Dr. Glass’ psychiatric EME report.  Dr. Glass diagnosed a “pain disorder,” which Dr. Brooks described as Employee believing she has pain and not intentionally fabricating the complaints, even though objective evidence to support a cause for the reported pain is lacking.  Dr. Brooks agreed Employee probably has a pain disorder, based upon a combination of physical and psychological factors.  

Dr. Brooks concluded Employee engages in “opportunistic misattribution,” which means when she is involved in an accident, which may be compensable, she retroactively attributes physical complaints to this event.  In his opinion, this is associated with falsely denying existence of prior issues before the compensable event, to obtain benefits from the event.  Dr. Brooks used the various dog attacks in the mid-90s as an example.  Dr. Brooks maintained Employee’s representation to her physicians during treatment for dog attacks that she had no prior back pain, was not true, as records showed a history of Employee falling off a porch, injuring her back, prior to the attacks.  

On cross-examination, Dr. Brooks conceded it is possible Employee could have completed his satisfaction survey before she left his office, noted there were no new symptoms or complaints as a result of the examination, and then experienced left knee symptoms later.  Dr. Brooks was unaware of Employee’s husband’s reported observations of the left knee examination and an “expression of pain” on Employee’s face during Dr. Brooks’ left knee examination.  Dr. Brooks questioned why certain facts changed in Employee’s medical records over the years, and called this phenomenon “injury inflation.”  Dr. Brooks conceded he “made up” the term “opportunistic misattribution” (Brooks).

57) At times during his testimony, Dr. Brooks sounded like an advocate for Employer, rather than an objective medical evaluator.  For example, his tone of voice at times implied Employee is like all other “claimants” he has evaluated over the years.  Dr. Brooks opined commercial fishing during the summer of 2005 is probably responsible for causing or aggravating Employee’s shoulder impingement syndrome, but conceded he had little understanding of movements performed by commercial fishermen.  He then clarified perhaps it was remodeling her home, which caused Employee’s shoulder symptoms, but again conceded he had no idea what, if anything, she was doing physically while participating in home remodeling.  Some of his opinions given with certitude were later retracted to “probability” during cross examination.  Dr. Brooks tended to take Employee’s hyperbole cited in various medical records as literal, and used this technique to imply Employee engaged in symptomatic magnification.  Lastly, his coining of phrases such as “opportunistic misattribution” and “injury inflation” implies Dr. Brooks routinely comes to these conclusions about people filing injury claims and suggests he may not be impartial and unbiased (experience, judgment, observations).

58) Skiff Lobaugh testified he is human resources manager for the Alaska State Legislature.  He handles all payroll activities for legislative employees.  Mr. Lobaugh knows Employee, who is a current, active legislative employee.  Employees who take leave must submit leave slips with their timesheets.  Leave includes time away from work for any reason, including medical care and disability from work-related injuries.  State employees are paid a salary unless the payroll manager is informed a worker is not working.  Thus, unless the payroll person receives a leave slip, a state employee is paid regardless of whether they are actually on the job.  All legislative employees have a mandatory leave requirement and must take at least 37.5 hours leave each year.  If leave is not taken, the state deducts 37.5 hours from the worker’s leave.  

Mr. Lobaugh produced Employee’s personnel file to Employer’s representative.  He produced all leave slips in his possession from 2005 to the present.  Employee submitted no leave slips for any purpose in 2005 or 2006.  Mr. Lobaugh sent mandatory leave forfeiture letters in both years to Ms. Wright, and she was approved to have leave carried over to the next year.  In 2007, Employee used 19.4 days for workers’ compensation and four hours for personal leave.  In 2008, Employee designated 10 days for workers’ compensation and one day for personal leave.  Employee also cashed in 75 hours in 2008.  In 2009, Employee designated 12 days for workers’ compensation and 11 days for personal leave.  She also cashed in 314 hours in personal leave in 2009.  In 2010, Employee designated five days for workers’ compensation.  She took no annual or personal leave in 2010.  In 2011, Employee took five days workers’ compensation leave and no other leave.  In 2012, as of the hearing date, Employee had submitted no leave slips.  Employee cashed in 760 hours of personal leave in 2012.  Because of the nature of Employee’s job, she could be flexible and work her 37.5 hours whenever and wherever her supervisor felt it was appropriate (Lobaugh).

59) Murlene Wilkes is claims manager at Harbor Adjusting Service.  She took over Employee’s case in February 2007.  Ms. Wilkes is familiar with benefits paid to Employee in her two workers’ compensation cases.  For the 2005 injury, Harbor paid $3,270 for TTD at the maximum $848 weekly compensation rate.  These payments spanned from February 7, 2007 through February 19, 2007, and from May 1, 2007 through May 14, 2007.  The last period of time loss benefits was paid based on what Employee told Ms. Wilkes about missing time from work.  The state paid Employee $425.41 in temporary partial disability (TPD) benefits, from November 17, 2008 through November 23, 2008.  From March 11, 2005 through September 3, 2010, the state paid Employee’s work-related medical costs of $208,271.20 and paid $8,091.02 in medical-related transportation charges.  Ms. Wilkes has no time loss requested or documented that the state did not pay in Employee’s 2005 claim.  Ms. Wilkes is aware of no unpaid medical bills related to Employee’s 2005 injury.  So far as Ms. Wilkes knows, the state paid all disability and medical benefits owed Employee for her 2005 injury.  The state overpaid Employee disability benefits for the 2005 case, but “absorbed it.” 

As for the 2009 injury, Harbor paid Employee $2,820 at the maximum $987 weekly compensation rate.  This covered the period from April 10, 2009 through April 13, 2009, one day on June 4, 2009, August 14, 2009 through August 21, 2009, and from September 16, 2009 through November 22, 2009.  Total medical costs for the 2009 injury paid on Employee’s behalf were $147,553.88 from April 7, 2009 through September 9, 2010, not including her left knee.  Ms. Wilkes is not aware of any unpaid disability or medical bills related to the 2009 injury, except for bills related to the left knee injury, which are controverted (Wilkes).

60)  The maximum TTD rate for injuries occurring in 2005 is $848 per week (Bulletin 04-05, December 15, 2004).

61)  The maximum TTD rate for injuries occurring in 2009 is $987 per week (Bulletin 08-11, December 15, 2008).

62)  The state paid Employee’s disability at the maximum statutory rate for both her 2005 and 2009 work-related injuries (record).

63)  Employee is a material witness in respect to her claims (experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from the above).

64)  The
reason Employee did not appear for hearing is unknown (id.).

65)  Employee did not exercise due diligence in preparing for her hearing (id.).

66)  Employee did not present any witnesses or evidence at hearing to support her claims, and provided no argument supporting her request for TTD, medical care past, present or future, a compensation rate adjustment, attorney’s fees, costs, or interest (id.).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) workers’ compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute. . . .

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

AS 23.30.005. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board. . . .

. . . 

(h) The department shall adopt rules for all panels . . . and shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . .  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible. . . .  

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

An employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessary.”  Bockness v. Brown Jug, Inc., 980 P.2d 462, 466 (Alaska 1999).  Thus, when the board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is indisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).  Accordingly, “we hold that a claim for medical treatment is to be reviewed according to the date the treatment was sought and the claim was filed with the Board.  Because Hibdon’s claim was filed within two years of the date of injury, we must determine whether the treatment she sought was reasonable and necessary.”  Id. at 731.  The court said:

Because Hibdon presented credible, corroborated evidence from her treating physician that the treatment she sought was reasonable and necessary for her recovery, and the treatment fell within the realm of medically accepted options, she proved her claim by a preponderance of the evidence (id.).

An injured worker is also entitled to a prospective determination of whether his injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Construction, 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-65 (Alaska 1991).  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).  

The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the claim and his employment.  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability or other claim for benefits and the employment (Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316), or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability (Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991)).  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).

Second, Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, AWCAC Decision No. 150 (March 25, 2011) stated, for an injury occurring before November 7, 2005, an employer may rebut the presumption with substantial evidence showing “the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of employment.”  Id. at 6.  For post-November 7, 2005 injuries, “the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability . . . or need for medical treatment” and if the employer “can present substantial evidence that demonstrates that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing [the disability or need for medical treatment], etc., the presumption is rebutted.”  Id. at 7.  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility is not examined at this point.  Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-70.  Runstrom further stated to rebut the presumption an employer need only demonstrate work is not the substantial cause and does not need to rule out employment as the substantial cause for injuries occurring after November 7, 2005.  Runstrom, AWCAC Decision No. 150 at 7.  The “substantial evidence” standard is used in determining whether Employer rebutted the §120 presumption.  Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Id.  

Third, if the employer successfully rebuts the presumption, it drops out and the employee must prove all elements of her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts “are probably true.”  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  

AS 23.30.122. Credibility of witnesses. The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure. . . .  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

AS 23.30.185. Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.395.  Definitions.  In this chapter,

. . .

(16) ‘disability’ means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment;

. . .

(27) ‘medical stability’ means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence;

8 AAC 45.060. Service. . . .

. . . 

(e) Upon its own motion or after receipt of an affidavit of readiness for hearing, the board will serve notice of time and place of hearing upon all parties at least 10 days before the date of the hearing unless a shorter time is agreed to by all parties or written notice is waived by the parties. 

(f) Immediately upon a change of address for service, a party or a party’s representative must file with the board and serve on the opposing party a written notice of the change.  Until a party or the board receives written notice of a change of address, documents must be served upon a party at the party’s last known address. . . .

8 AAC 45.070.  Hearings. (a) Hearings will be held at the time and place fixed by notice served by the board under 8 AAC 45.060(e).  A hearing may be adjourned, postponed, or continued from time to time and from place to place at the discretion of the board or its designee, and in accordance with this chapter. . . .

. . .

(f) If the board finds that a party was served with notice of hearing and is not present at the hearing, the board will, in its discretion, and in the following order of priority, 

(1) proceed with the hearing in the party’s absence and, after taking evidence, decide the issues in the application or petition; 

(2) dismiss the case without prejudice; or 

(3) adjourn, postpone, or continue the hearing. . . .

8 AAC 45.074.  Continuances and cancellations. . . .

. . . 

(b) Continuances or cancellations are not favored by the board and will not be routinely granted.  A hearing may be continued or cancelled only for good cause and in accordance with this section.  For purposes of this subsection:

(1) Good cause exists only when

(A) a material witness is unavailable on the scheduled date and deposing the witness is not feasible; 

(B) a party or representative of a party is unavailable because of an unintended and unavoidable court appearance; 

(C) a party, a representative of a party, or a material witness becomes ill or dies; 

(D) a party, a representative of a party, or a material witness becomes unexpectedly absent from the hearing venue and cannot participate telephonically; 

(E) the hearing was set under 8 AAC 45.160(d); 

(F) a second independent medical evaluation is required under 
AS 23.30.095 (k); 

(G) the hearing was requested for a review of an administrator’s decision under AS 23.30.041(d), the party requesting the hearing has not had adequate time to prepare for the hearing, and all parties waive the right to a hearing within 30 days; 

(H) the board is not able to complete the hearing on the scheduled hearing date due to the length of time required to hear the case or other cases scheduled on that same day, the lack of a quorum of the board, or malfunctioning of equipment required for recording the hearing or taking evidence; 

(I) the parties have agreed to and scheduled mediation; 

(J) the parties agree that the issue set for hearing has been resolved without settlement and the parties file a stipulation agreeing to dismissal of the claim or petition under 8 AAC 45.050(f)(1); 

(K) the board determines that despite a party’s due diligence in completing discovery before requesting a hearing and despite a party’s good faith belief that the party was fully prepared for the hearing, evidence was obtained by the opposing party after the request for hearing was filed which is or will be offered at the hearing, and due process required the party requesting the hearing be given an opportunity to obtain rebuttal evidence; 

(L) the board determines at a scheduled hearing that, due to surprise, excusable neglect, or the board’s inquiry at the hearing, additional evidence or arguments are necessary to complete the hearing; 

(M) an agreed settlement has been reached by the parties less than 14 days before a scheduled hearing, the agreed settlement has not been put into writing, signed by the parties, and filed with the board in accordance with 8 AAC 45.070(d)(1), the proposed settlement resolves all disputed issues set to be heard, and the parties appear at the scheduled hearing to state the terms of the settlement on the record; or 

(N) the board determines that despite a party’s due diligence, irreparable harm may result from a failure to grant the requested continuance or cancel the hearing; 

(2) the board or the board’s designee may grant a continuance or cancellation under this section 

. . .

(B) for good cause under (1)(J)-(M) of this subsection only after the parties appear at the scheduled hearing, make the request and, if required by the board, provide evidence or information to support the request. . . .

8 AAC 45.142.  Interest.  (a)  If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid. . . .

 The Alaska Supreme Court explained how interest is calculated and applied in workers’ compensation cases in several decisions.  See Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Association,  860 P.2d 1184 (Alaska 1993).   

ANALYSIS

1) Was the oral order denying Employee’s request for a continuance proper?

Employee was present at the May 15, 2012 prehearing conference where the parties requested a hearing date, and set a hearing on Employee’s claims for November 13, 2012.  On October 11, 2012, more than 10 days prior to the November 13, 2012 hearing, Employee was served at her then-current address of record with a hearing notice.  Employee was properly served with the hearing notice on October 11, 2012, at her address of record in the computer database as of that date.  
AS 23.30.110(c); 8 AAC 45.060; record.  Employee never provided notice her address changed.  
8 AAC 45.060(f).  Though it is unclear how, why, when, or by whom the address was changed in the computer database after October 11, 2012, Employee was served on October 11, 2012, with a hearing notice for the November 13, 2012 hearing at the proper address at that time.

Employee’s counsel requested a continuance when Employee did not appear at hearing.  Employee’s counsel knew of no good reason, other than a litigant’s general due process right to be present during a judicial proceeding, to support her continuance request.  This axiom is not specifically included as “good cause” under the law.  8 AAC 45.074(b)(1)(A-N).  A party certainly has a due process right to notice of a hearing and has a right to participate.  In some circumstances, §074(b)(1)(N)’s “irreparable harm” provision may address due process issues and justify a continuance.  Here, however, Employee’s counsel could offer no evidence of Employee’s due diligence in preparing for or making herself available for the hearing, even though she was aware of it since May 15, 2012.  Employee’s attorney was unable to contact Employee for six weeks prior to the hearing.  According to Employee’s counsel, Employee did not return calls or answer e-mails.  Consequently, it is unknown why Employee did not appear or otherwise participate in the November 13, 2012 hearing.  Employee’s attorney is correct; it is every litigant’s right to have notice of, and participate in, their judicial proceedings.  The manner in which the hearing notice was provided, as detailed above, did not violate Employee’s right to due process.  Thus, Employee was afforded the opportunity to participate in her hearing and chose not to appear.  

The law provides a discretionary priority to handle such situations.  It is not required for the designated chair to attempt telephone contact with an absent party.  However, designated chairs frequently make a discretionary attempt to contact absent litigants in an effort to be fair.  This effort was unsuccessful in Employee’s case, as her phone number of record was not in service.  Absent the chair’s ability to contact Employee telephonically, the first order of priority in such cases under the appropriate regulation is to proceed with the hearing in the party’s absence and, after taking evidence, decide the issues in the claim.  8 AAC 45.070(f)(1).  This was the discretionary option selected in this instance.  As even Employee’s counsel could think of no good cause to continue the hearing, the oral order denying the request for continuance was properly granted.

2) Is Employee entitled to additional TTD?

This issue contains factual questions, to which the statutory presumption of compensability applies.  AS 23.30.120; Sokolowski.  Evidence offered to raise the presumption is considered irrespective of credibility or weighing.  Wolfer.  Employee claimed unspecified periods of temporary total disability, but failed to provide any evidence, even minimal, threshold evidence, to make the presumption attach to this claim.  Cheeks.  Consequently, she failed to make the presumption attach to her request for additional TTD and Employee must prove her claim for TTD by a preponderance of the evidence.  Runstrom.  Employee failed to appear or give any testimony concerning why believes she is entitled to additional TTD.  She failed to call any witnesses to support her TTD claim.  Employee pointed to no medical evidence showing she has been disabled while not medically stable for any period of time for either injury for which she has not already been fully compensated.  Employee could not even specify the dates for which she sought TTD.  Consequently, her claim for TTD will be denied.

Alternately, assuming for argument’s sake Employee somehow raised the presumption of compensability on her TTD claim, the second and third steps of the presumption analysis will be applied.  Employer rebutted the presumption on the TTD issue through Mr. Lobaugh’s testimony, which showed Employee submitted no leave slips for any time for which she has not already been paid a salary or compensated with workers’ compensation benefits.  This tends to support the inference Employee has no uncompensated time loss.  If Employee was working as her leave slips indicate, she was by definition not “disabled.”  AS 23.30.395(16).  Furthermore, Dr. Brooks’ testimony indicates Employee has been medically stable from both injuries since October 5, 2009.  TTD may not be paid after the date of medical stability.  AS 23.30.185.  This evidence is adequate to rebut the presumption of compensability and shifts the burden of production and persuasion back to Employee who must prove her TTD claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Saxton.  

As stated above, Employee offered no testimony or non-medical evidence, or pointed to any medical records to support a TTD claim.  Mr. Lobaugh credibly testified Employee has not submitted any leave slips for any form of leave, including time off for workers’ compensation related injuries.  Ms. Wilkes credibly testified she is unaware of any period for which Employee has not been compensated in relation to either subject injury.  Dr. Brooks testified Employee was medically stable by October 5, 2009.  As all this evidence is uncontradicted, Employee cannot meet her burden of proof even if the statutory presumption of compensability analysis is applied.  Therefore, her TTD claim will be denied.

3) Is Employee entitled to an award of past medical benefits or any future medical care?

These issues contain factual questions, to which the statutory presumption of compensability applies.  AS 23.30.120; Carter; Sokolowski.  Evidence offered to raise the presumption is considered irrespective of credibility or weighing.  Wolfer.  Employee claimed unspecified medical benefits, but failed to provide any evidence, even minimal, threshold evidence, to make the presumption attach to this medical benefits claim.  Cheeks.  Consequently, she failed to make the presumption attach to her request for medical benefits.  Accordingly, Employee must prove her claim for medical benefits, whether they be past, present or presently-recommended-future benefits, by a preponderance of the evidence.  Runstrom.  With the possible exception of her left knee, discussed below, Employee failed to give any testimony or other evidence concerning why she believes she is entitled to past or present medical care or has a current recommendation from a physician for future medical benefits.  She failed to call any witnesses to support her medical benefits claim.  Employee pointed to no medical evidence or unpaid medical bills showing she has work-related medical bills for which she or her providers have not already been fully compensated.  Employee did not even identify any unpaid medical bills or current recommendations for any future, work-related treatment.  Consequently, her claim for medical benefits will be denied.

Alternately, assuming for argument’s sake Employee somehow raised the presumption of compensability on her medical benefits claim the second and third steps of the presumption analysis will be applied.  Employer rebutted the presumption on the medical benefits issue through Ms.  Wilkes’ testimony Employee submitted no medical records or associated billings for any past medical care for which she or her medical providers have not already been compensated under the Act and because Ms. Wilkes is unaware of any pending requests for further medical treatment for accepted, work-related injuries.  This tends to support the inference Employee has no unpaid, past medical benefits and no current recommendations from her physicians for further medical care for either work related injury.  Furthermore, Dr. Brooks’ testimony indicates Employee needs no further medical care for either injury.  This evidence is adequate to rebut the presumption of compensability and shifts the burden of production and persuasion back to Employee who must prove her claim for medical benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  Saxton.  

For the same reasons set forth above, Employee cannot meet her burden.  She pointed to no evidence she has any unpaid medical bills.  Employee provided no evidence or argument she has a current recommendation for treatment for an accepted work-related injury.  It is unknown what medical care Employee believes remains unpaid, or what future medical care she needs for which she seeks an order making a prospective determination.  Summers.  Therefore, Employee cannot meet her burden and her current requests for unspecified medical benefits, past, present or future will be denied.

Though it is entirely unclear what medical benefits or treatment Employee seeks in her claims, assuming she is claiming medical benefits related to her left knee, the presumption analysis will be applied specifically to the left knee.  Without regard to credibility, Employee raised the presumption as to her left knee with her allegation Dr. Brooks injured her left knee during his EME evaluation.  This is adequate to attach the presumption and shifts the burden of production to Employer who must rebut the raised presumption with substantial evidence to the contrary.  Wolfer.

Without regard to credibility, Employer rebutted the presumption as to the left knee with Dr. Brooks’ testimony.  He testified he did not examine Employee’s left knee during his EME and did nothing to injure it.  Since Employer rebutted the presumption as to the left knee, the burden of production and persuasion shifts back to Employee who must prove her claim for medical benefits related to left knee, if any, by a preponderance of the evidence.  Runstrom.

Employee’s only evidence offered to support her claim for medical benefits to her left knee, if indeed she is making such a claim, are her statements, which Employer acknowledges she made, stating Dr. Brooks injured her left knee during his EME evaluation.  As Employee did not testify on this issue, Dr. Brooks’ testimony he did not examine or injure the left knee is uncontradicted.  Furthermore, Employee pointed to no medical evidence linking a left knee medical issue to Dr. Brooks’ evaluation.  Therefore, applying the presumption analysis to the left knee only demonstrates Employee has not met her burden of production or persuasion.  Saxton.  Her claim for left knee-related medical benefits, if she is making such a claim, will be denied.

4) Is Employee entitled to a compensation rate adjustment?

This issue contains factual questions, to which the statutory presumption of compensability applies.  AS 23.30.120; Sokolowski.  Evidence offered to raise the presumption is considered irrespective of credibility or weighing.  Wolfer.  Employee claimed a compensation rate adjustment, but failed to provide any evidence, even minimal, threshold evidence, to make the presumption attach to this compensation rate adjustment claim.  Cheeks.  Consequently, she failed to make the presumption attach to her request for a compensation rate adjustment.  Accordingly, Employee must prove her claim for a compensation rate adjustment by a preponderance of the evidence.  Runstrom.  Employee failed to appear or give any testimony or argument concerning why she believes she is entitled to a higher compensation rate for her injuries.  She failed to call any witnesses to support her compensation rate adjustment claim.  Employee pointed to no evidence showing she was paid at an incorrect rate.  Employee made no legal argument supporting an exception to the maximum, statutory weekly compensation rate at which she was paid in both cases.  Consequently, her claim for a compensation rate adjustment will be denied.

Alternately, assuming for argument’s sake Employee somehow raised the presumption of compensability on her compensation rate adjustment claim, Employer rebutted it with Ms. Wilkes’ testimony she paid Employee at the maximum rate for both injuries.  As Employee provided no contrary evidence or argument, she failed to meet her burden of production or persuasion.  Saxton.  Even if Employee could attach the presumption of compensability to her compensation rate adjustment claim, she would still fail as a matter of law.  The law limits the weekly compensation rate for TTD benefits.  The record shows Employee was paid at the maximum rate for both injuries.

5) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees, costs and interest?

Employee would only be entitled to an award of attorney’s fees, costs and interest if she prevailed on some issue in her claims.  As discussed above, Employee will not prevail on any issues in her claims.  Therefore, she is not entitled to attorney’s fees, costs or interest.  Her claim for attorney’s fees, costs and interest will be denied.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1) The oral order denying Employee’s request for a continuance was proper.

2) Employee is not entitled to additional TTD.

3) Employee is not entitled to an award of past medical benefits or any future medical care.

4) Employee is not entitled to a compensation rate adjustment.

5) Employee is not entitled to an award of attorney’s fees, costs and interest.


ORDER
1) The oral order denying Employee’s request for a continuance was proper and is memorialized.

2) Employee’s claim for unspecified additional TTD is denied.

3) Employee’s claim for unspecified past and future medical benefits is denied.

4) Employee’s claim for an unspecified compensation rate adjustment is denied.

5) Employee’s claim for attorney’s fees, costs and interest is denied.

6) The administrative staff is directed to serve a copy of this decision and order on Employee by regular and certified mail at **** *******, Soldotna, Alaska 99669 and C/O Mike Chenault, 145 Main Street Loop, Kenai, Alaska 99611.
Dated in Anchorage, Alaska on December 24, 2012.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision and becomes effective when filed in the board’s office, unless it is appealed.  Any party in interest may file an appeal with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the date this decision is filed.  All parties before the board are parties to an appeal.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied because the board takes no action on reconsideration, whichever is earlier.

A party may appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from; 2) a statement of the grounds for the appeal; and 3) proof of service of the notice and statement of grounds for appeal upon the Director of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division and all parties.  Any party may cross-appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  Whether appealing or cross-appealing, parties must meet all requirements of 8 AAC 57.070.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of SHARALYN S. WRIGHT Employee / applicant v. STATE OF ALASKA, employer / defendants; Case No(s) 200904262, 200504372; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, and served upon the parties this 24th day of December, 2012.


















__________________________________

















Sertram Harris, Administrative Assistant
�














30

